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DW: Tell me where and when you were born. 

DW: Louantia , Zambia 1945 

JF: What were your parents doin~ there? 

DW: My father was a miner , he was a fitter and turner trained in 
Roadepoort as an artisan and then~nt t~ Zambia in 1925 . He was involved 
in the miners strike of 1922., as a very young man- he was born in 1901. 

For him the strike was a tragic event although I don't understand this 
fully . He went on strike and theh he was called up in~~ the army and t hen 

he was a territorial officer or person in the Transvaal Scottish. 
He was sent as an army person to fight strikers in Benoni . His sister's 

fiance was killed in Benoni with a battle with strikers . It was complicated 
as he was on stik:e and was not just scabbing but double scabbing by serv­
ing in the army. 

There was this post world aar 1 high patriotism about you must serve 
if you are called up kind of stuff . So that was an amazingly traumatic 
event, so in '24 he made inquiries about new gold and copper mines open­
ing in Zambia and in '25 went there . 

JF: Did he learn anything from the experience about the state's power? 

DW: No, I think he was very unreflective about those things, he wasn't a 
political figure at all . In fact he rather admired Smuts in a funny kind 
of way. 

But he did decide that this was an event he couldn't come to terms with. 
~~at actually did happen too was his brother in law, a person that he knew 
in Roodepoort actually scabbed, kept on going to work . And this person 
married my father's sister after her fiance had been killed and my father 
took a very long time to come to t erma with that as well . 

Somehow he didn't seem to think that serving in the army against 
strikers was unacceptable, whereas scabbing was. 

JF: Did you learn about this early or way later? 

DW: Only at the end of his life . He ctied before I could speak with him very 
clearly about any of these things , unfortunately, so I really only learnt 
about it in '72 when he died . 

I was interested at that time fort~e first time and had just started 
to talk those things through. It was very puzzling to me because I wasn't 
very sussed poli tically at that time . 

JF: Did you grow up in Zambia? 

DW: Yes I did, I spent my first 21 years there . Then I was sent to school 
in Northern Rhodesia then , where I was born, and then to university in 
South Af:rtca . 

Then my father retire from the copper mines in 1967 when I was 22, 
and retired to East London in South Africa . , which is where he had been 
born. 

I was still at university and ¥rent to live with them there . de pulled 
up all our roots in Zambia, which go t independence in 1 64 . My father was 
very happy where he was and toyed with the idea of retiring in Zambia, but 
in the end all his friends left and he was alsJ doubtful, so he went back 
to E. L where he knew people and had a oit of family . 
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JF: Where did you go to university? 

DW : Rhodes , Grahamstown. That was another reason , that he wanted to be 
near where I was studying. 

JF : Do you have any idea about thu difference between whites and carneys 
as they were then? 

DW : As a matter of fact , quite a clear idea . Zambia was a fascinating place . 
It was always much more racist than Rhodesia. Northern Rhodesia was more 
rasict then Southern Rhodesia from the begi nning. 

The reason was that N. Rhodesia was a mono economy on copper , and tt 
was a particular kind of copper mining , deep level mi~ing, and the only 
people in the vicinity who had ski ll in tnis were S . A gold miners . Theee 
were some English immi~rants, coal miners from Newcastle and Scotland as 
wel l and one or t wo Australians and Americans . 

Rather l i ke the composition of the SoutheAfrican labour force but 
t he vast majori ty of people who framed the Zambian copper belt and made 
the mines work , the ri5 gers , tne f i tters and turners , about 80% were t rained 
in South Africa, and apprenticed on our 0 0ld mines here . 

It was in a highly racist envoronment and so this little micr ocosm 
of South Africa got transplanted and became the hub of industry in Zambia. 
It was therefore in a position to influence dominant racial attitudes as 
well . 

It was an intriguing placew.ith a l i ttle microcosm of the S. A Wits­
waterrand because even the rugby clubs of little towns were named afer 
litx Johannesburg clubs . 

Happily my town wasn't, it had a rugby club named Roan Antelope after 
the mine , but our rugby colours were the same as Roodepoort . At Kitwe , 
the clubs were called pirate s and Dibgers and they are both Joburg clubs . 

All the surrounding towns had their clubs modelled on Witswaterand 
clubs . The soc ial life focused on what was called the recreation club, 
which was a South African phenomenon too . 

There was a little mining company town which provided the entire life­
style of the people, the recreation and ahops . 

Black life was verJ structured in compound and township life , but 
white life was also very controlled in its own way . So being such a 
monoeconomy and focused on a South African style, it was exceedingly racist . 

It was very easy to move from Zambia to S . A and back and be complete-
ly racist and have no problems whatsoever , in adjsuting to the style of lilfe. 

Whereas N. Rhodesians always regarded S . Rhodesians as being a bit suspect, 
a bit liberal , not that they were of course but it seemed that way . 

They definitely had a more tolerant attitude towards black people. 

JF : Did you grow up w1th those attitudes? 

DW: Yes , I was quite a racist kid, altho~gh my father in a very sweet kind 
of way , and my mother too , was very correct about treating human beings as 
human beinbs • 

It might not sound liberal, out in those days it was quite a liberal 
stand to take, like we had a domestic servant who was a ale like most 
of the do~estic servants in Zambia, and he was an adult about 40 L s~ppose 
and my father was very clear that one had to treat him as an adult , not 
humiliate him, which I did once or twice and got up~raided for it. 

So my father was cor~ect but racist too , no question . 
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JF: What about your background , was it as close as it can come to being 
white worKing class , or was that setting, even though he was a fitter and 
turner, he had the ambiance of the bourgeoisie of Zambia? 

DW : A tricky question because a minign tmwn is the most astonishing micro­
cosm, it is full of hierarchy and status and I wouldn 't know if this is 
replicated in coal mines in England , working class communities in America , 
but I have never been in a place with more emphasis placed on status and 
hiearchy . 

Not class , because you all belong roughly to the same class, a form 
of working class but the internal recognition of difference within that 
class was astonishing to watch . 

First of all blacks just didn't count at all , they weren't part of 
your social universe , but that within your own internal white community, 
there wre those who dia the very menial tasks, supervisory and shift work , 
the guys who supervised 6 anbs of workers on the roads , they w~ bottom of 
the hierarchy . 

Then came the rockbreakers , although they were an interesting community , 
or category, they were very unskilled white people who led• a team of 
blacks drilling at the rack face and they go t a bonus for however much • 
rock they broke . 

They made an enormous amount of money , and they were often the poorest 
educated with no skills at all , because drilling and blasting is actually 
not a skill and ~et they earned the highest salaries of anybody there. 

rhey were an ambigous category. Then came the artisans of my fathers 
kind , they were hierarchically arranged according to whether you were just 
an artisan, a fitter , a mechanic , a joiner or a supervisory group above 
these called Sectional engineers . 

~cy father was a case in point of how he rose through the ranks to 
end his career of 40 years to end a s a sectional enbineer , which meant 
frvm the days I can remember he never practiced fitter and turning, he was 
a supervisor of other peo~le's labour . 

He ran the mine barage and workshop for some years , and the boilmakers 
etc . As more and more black people became involved in those lower sections 
of labour, he was supervising them as well of course . 

It was a typical case in a way of starting w~th craft like skills and 
then moving into supervisory positions over other people who do bits and 
pieces of th~ job . 

Then there were the mining mncerground guys , the timelter guys and so 
on who were slightly higher status ,and then the administrators who ran the 
books , the timekeepers, the accountants . In those days, they didn ' t have 
computers, they had a thing called a holorith machine, a punched card 
which sorted thines by category, a bit like an early computer . 

They were a different category of people too , although not terribly 
hi5hly thcu5ht of . You learnt your skills in the work place and those guys 
were stig~atised as not really having tot th~ir hands dirty . 

In the mines , it's interesting that they always promoted people , 
especially from undeground, to be the mine manger in the end . These were 
not people with great manegerail skills normally, but people who had work­
ed their way throughfue system and become by dint of leadership qualities 
of a kind, respected by people . 

The administration th_ng happened somewhene else, like our mine was 
a group called Rhodesian Selection Trust which is now called Roan Selection 
Trust . An~lo-American was the other major company th~re.. . 

So the admin tended to be done somewhere wlse l~ke ~n Sal~sbury or 
Joburg , but the day to day running and control aas done by some one who 
had come ~p through the mine structures . 
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JF : I want to get a larger picture of the white working class thing , 
but let me just backtrack to ••• to get bac k to the theme of the awareness 
of blacks and racism , was there i n that communi t y, shock and horror 
about independence and what it would bring? 

Dw: Very mucn . Zambia didn ' t have a very bloody runup to independence, 
in fact t here were a couple of cases of rioting and violence and one 
or two white people got killed , and a kind of ungst arose in the 
community (white; . 

And certai nly people predicted Oh when independence comes this is 
.the end of our place , we are all getting out fast , and it came . By then 
I was a universotyt student, and we rather enjoyed it . All us Zambians 
at Rhodes Univers i ty had a party , and you were invited to write off to 
Zambia to get a packat;e which consisted of a Zambian flag in cardbord 
and a record with 1kosi Sikelele adapted to Zambian circumstances, a speech 
([rom Kuanda etc . 

we didn't take it terribly seriously down at Rhodes but people back 
home were , things strated taking a bad turn when they started changing street 
names, Rhodes Ave to Lomumba Street or something. 

They started chagning school names and inte0rating schoolswhmch up 
until that point had been pretty segregated , and every one started to pull 
tneir kids out of the local government schools and send them zMi•x south 
to Rhodesia to all white other schools , sometimes government , so~etimes 

private . 
There was consternation alri~ht and in fact a major exodus , but that 

was i mmediately stopped by a discriminatory wage introduced in Zambia 
between local Zambians and what were called expatr~ts . 

Expatriots were told We are Zambiansiing and you're got to train people 
up into your job , but in reality that took years and it is still going on 
as far as I know . 

Expatriots if they xetained your foreie~ passport made a killing , 
their salaries doubled some of them. So there was a mixture of expedience 
and fear . 

~eop~e like my father were in a slightly different thing because they 
were reaching retirement anyway . No one really in my father's generation 
thought of Zambia as home , my father was one of few who kind of thought 
of it as a bit houe , but all the English immigrants spoke of the home 
country meaning Enbland . 

The Afrikaans or South African miners used to talk of home as being 
Joburg or somewhere , usually Joburg. So most peopl e who were there didn't 
think of the place as home at all, so Zambia hastened the return to home 
for many of thuse people . 

Coincidentally Palabora opened up as a copper mine in the N. E t ; ansvaal 
and it beamao. just a little piece of rthodesia . It was astonishing. Hy brother 
at the time was qualifying as an analytical chemist , and didn't hesitate to 
apply for a job at Jalabora . 

He was slotted into a whole community which he knew , he knew about 
200 people . 

JF: A paralell wi th the Hhodesians down here now? 

Dl'l : I guess so . 

JF : When you arrived at nhod~s did you feel at all different , working 
class as compared •• were there lots of kids who had parents as professionals? 
wast tl!at at all a factor? 

DW : The university was a sort of regional place in a way, being a Rhodesia n , 
well schooled there anyway, there was a Rhodesian element at the Universijy. 
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DW: • • there always has been , it's quite a strong thing , and ironically 
it was the liberal element in those days . li won't mean much to you, 
but the SRC president there in my second year was a guy called John 
Spragg. 

He became NUSAS peesident and was chucked out of S . A because he 
was using a dual passport . He then went to England and worked for anti­
apartheid and now as far as I know is a stalwart to the british communist 
party as far as I know . 

Not that he had those political tendencies then but he was a Rhodesian 
and there was aRhodesian clique on campus wno voted in Rhodesians to the 
SttC . Thej were left of most South african stud~nts . 

So there was first of all a regional allegiance that you had , which 
now t hat I thmnk about it , did have a certain class component to it . 
Tne Rhodesian students were rather split amongst themselves, those that 
went to things, schools like eterhouse which Finnaster and others went to 

and indeed which I Kind ~f went ~ as well . The whole Rhodesian tchool­
ing needs to be looked at if you are interested in class , and upward mobili t y 
and stuff . 

There was a distinction between those that went to South African private 
schools, St andrews , Bishops, and certain fairly elitist government schools . 
In the Eastern Cape Selbourne, and in East London, Grey Uollege. 

They saw themselves as a fairly elite group and they may or may ~ot 
have been in terms of class background but there was a certai n style about 
those guys . 

I would say Yes in a way some of us were country burrpkins by comparioon 
with those people , there is no doubt about that . My town where I grew up 
was tiny with 6000 white people . 

That meant in your youth cahort there were 2oo of them if that , and 
you knew every last one of them . 

JF: How did you arrive on campus politically, of the left N. Rhodesians? 

DW: No , I was a very conservative kid , somewnere in the right I suppose . 
of most Rhodesians who were the liberals on campus to an extent. The 
reactionary Rhodesina component actually begins with the war in Rhodesia 
and Smith , that is when politics on S.A campuses changed with the problem­
atic .ight wing Rhodesian students . 

It wasn't like that a~ all in those days . In my first year I didn't 
participate in NUSAS or student demonstrations etc and just towaifs the 
end of my first year, tre e was one bi 5 demonstration on Rhodes campus 
about Bantu education, '6) . 

I didn't participate in it, in fact I was quite hostile to it. In 
fact Glenda was my girlfriend at that timeand she did and I didn't and I 
was hostile about her participating. 

But I began to think through some of the issues and wonder about some 
of those things . Cotermisely with that the hational party on the Rhodes 
campus was making a play, there were some right wing guys on the campus . 

They were going around the campus trying to recruit people for the 
national party, and I remember vividly finding tha t totall3 out of the 
question. 

I saw myself as a UP type person in those days I suppose , in so far 
as I didn ' t actua ~ ly assoc~ate with S.A politics in t ho se days, I thought 
it wasn't my 1roblem. 

I didn't know that I was going to come and l!ve in ~.A at that time 
anyway . I thought I'd be.back in Zamoia . I thuught these guys are just 
out to luch, the nationalists, but I didn't particularly think the demon­
strations were going to oe very effevtive or usefal~ 

I didn't think they were my scene either, but that ~articular demon­
staation beuan me thlnking. The~e was a night vigil on the library steps, 
r~ther a corny th_ne with lit candles, and I remember ag nising about why 
Glenda was there and I wasn't . 
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DW: •• was there something to this that I was missing kind of thing. 
I guess that was the beginning of moving somewhere into a liberal camp 
as opposed to oeing prett~ right wing actually . 

JF : How did t hat move continue in your university life? 

DW: In my sec~nd year •• Rhoaes is a very raternalistic structure , in the 
first year , all students let years are put i~to one residence . You're 
hounded and kept rather like boarding school . 

Secund year you can choose another residence, and I chose a very 
small and relaKed residence, and it happened to be a combination of theolgy 
stuients and politicos in a way . 

The polit icos were Rhodesians and the theology students were ~ostly 
South African. fhrough pers onal contac~ with those people I began to see 
a different view of things . 

This is 1 66. I don't know if you know your South African history but 
th~se guys who were the theology students were in SCA (Students christian 
association) which was a fairly conservative Christian movement, and a 
left wing tning broke away from that called the UCS (University christian 
movement) . 

On Rhodes campus they were white students but its q~uivalent on black 
campuses were the guys who founded black theology , and I was a contemporary 
with a guy called Fob Stewart who subsequently was one of the really moving 
forces behind black consciousness . 

He married a Japane re woman , and went int o exile . Ano ther one was a guy 
called James Polly who actually dropped out of clerical matters and now runs 
a film unit in Cape Town. 

But he was quite a radical guy ,. One of the teachers but who hung 
around the residences quite a lot was a guy called Basil ·oore , very 
influential in black theology . 

There were a lot of these guys who carried their devates out in 
a theolotical fashion , al l about the social gospel actuaaly, and apartheid 
to an extent . ::t wasn't that pointedly political . That was the one lot 
I interated with ~uite a let. and the other lot were people like Spragg 
who was my next door neighbor in residence . 

A number of other liberal guys , although lets not push it further 
then that . 

JF: Up to now everything you have discussed , you've never had any inter­
action with blacks that were of any influence? 

DW : Absol utely none . Hy school days were a closeted boarding school , with 
300 students in a bush school, it was an old €;Old mine in a tuwn called 
Essexvale in Southern Zimbabwe . 

The school still goes , it is Falcon Collebe now . Mine was called Bush­
Stick. It was like a little prison camp almost , you never saw black people 
other than •. except in the kitchen, oecause you polished and cleaned your 
own floors . 1~ was an astun1sn1ng l1ttle microcosm. 

My Rhodes university existence was a very closeted one , it wasn't 
an integrated campus , we had Chinese people on campus , that(s all . There 
was nom thought of going down to the Grahamstown location to a shebeen , 
which Wits students mi5h t well consider in Soweto today . 

Your lecturing staff and everythine in your world never encouraged 
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DW: •• that sort of thing. Really bizarre . 

JF: Were there any changes or influences at university? 

DW : A very liberal thing happened . The Grahamstown City Council got 
very reactionary about the black workers at Rhodes who used to come and 
watch rubbj . They used to like watching it . It is a big sport , even for 
black people , in the Eastern Cape . 

more than soccer, These guys used to troop on foot from the location 
through Grahamstown to watch Rhodes University versus somebody . The 
Grahams t own City Council got it into t eir heads about ' 67, to stop this 
i t was a nuisance that these guys traipsed all the way through twon . 

So they banned it and the students go t very angry about it, an d that 
was the first time I really started to think about it , \Vhat on earht do 
the city council think they are d(ing. What harm can these peopl e do? 

So we had a big demonstration about that particular issue , and then I 
started to get involved ith NUSAS . I joined the NUSAS l ocal comm . 

I began to be drawn in by NU0AS concerns although in that period , 
it was strai0ht liberalism. I can't even remember who the NUSAS president 
was. 

It was like the year that they brought Robert Kennedy out, and what 
a revelation that was . That was quite an amazing thing. People shifted 
their poli t1cs at least two inches to the left at that time . 

JF: Did you? 

DW: Yes definitel y . 

JF : Why? Because he was charismatic or he seemed •• he shook hands with 
black people? 

DW : I suppose he represented international liberalism in a funny kind 
of way, and we were into that at that time . Half my• friends were kind 
of doping out and getting into drugs, I was never into that scene , I never 
smoked even cigarettes and I always felt it not to be a part of my life , 
not interested . 

Half of my community and friends went straight into that , hard stuff 
even, LSD was coming on . I couldn't find myself getting involved~th that 
lot , and the other half became more politicised somehow. There was a definite 
split on campus. 

I belonged to the group that moved more in the pmliticised direction 
than in the drucgy dropout direction. I think we all came from the same 
camp in the beginnin&, tha t is we could see malaises in the society, out 
we weeen't sure what the hell it was, or what direction the society was 
mving in . 

The other main thing which I'm sure people don 't understand today 
was that nothing I was ever taught was progressive at 1.1niversity . I mean 
I diu politics , philosophy and economics, anthrop~ogy, french, english 
but I was never taught a radical course in my whole 1.1niversity carreer . 

The politics course eonsisted of l ong treatises on the nature of democ­
racy . from Plato to John Stuart Mill or something. I did an Afrcian Govern­
ment course which was about coloniali Africa but it was taught in such a way 
that made you think that colonialism was quite a beneficial thing to the 
indigineous populations of Africa. 

In fact you probably met the woman who taught it who has actually 
moved up quite a lot since those days . But she taught an incredibly react­
ionary course 9 when I was a student . 

So ~ went throughthe university not being stimulated by my lecturers 
at all , I didn't even know Harx existed when I was at Un~versity . No one 
talked about him , not studen;s , not lecturers. 

I finished my university undergraduate in 1968 , and I never touched 
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DW: • • the readings of harx ever. 

JF. Then you did what? 

DW: I went into Anthropology . I began incidentally as a ' BComm student, 
out of not knowing what else to do, I thought let's take a safe career. 
After two weeks I pegan to think Oh y God what have I done? 

Accounting 1, elementary theory of finance and statisti~and that 
kind of stuff. I realised this is not for me at all , and so I wrute my 
exmas end of that year and I passed okay , but I decided to get out of a 
BComm and moved into a BA . 

Quite accidently I fell into anthroplology which is what I now do 
because it was a two year major and in order to complete my degree in 
three years , I had to take a course which I could maj ot in and so i t ook t t . 

In a funny kind of way it turned me on , and in fact it was important 
for me because for the first time you were being taught that balck people 
are interesting. ~hey have societies and cultures which are of immense 
wotth in their own right . 

Again a very liberal kind of thing, but if you take the time to lokk 
at say Zulu culture, it has a logic and a system. :t•s not aocut super­
stition qnd bizzare practic~s, it is actaully amazingly intricate, f~ll 
of delicate lo5ic and a lot to find uut and know. 

I found that a real trun on, I really dug anthropmmogy from day one 
and suddenly I realised at the en~ of my firts year of doing it that this 
is what 1 was keen on. 

It was like a vocation almost, I suddenly got keen . I had kind of 
wafted through university at that point , and I started working at anthro+ 
pology. 

I began to look at black people with new eyes from that kind of 
perspective . I must stress it wasn't a radical course at all but what it 
did do was open up a new dimension for me . 

I'd go back to Zambia and look at the guy who had worked in our house 
~11 these years and I 'd never actually seen as a proper person at all . 
I 'd start talking to him about what part of Zambia he had come from, he was 
a migrant worker . 

I started asking what tribe he belonged to and what language they 
spoke . And incidentally Zambia is in the anthrological literature ••• 

TAPE 1 SIDE 2 

DW: ••• is probably the most written up country in the w:1ole worlQ. and 
my home town Louantia has had more books and articles written on it than 
any other place in the social sciences. 

It's ironic, I suddenly found r1y home town has had five bboks and 
twentJ articles written about it , about the black people who live there . 
I read them aviuly and started to go ar0und the township and look and meeL 
people and hang out in the pubs . 

I started movin6 within Zamoia itself ina a more mixed community . 
That was fascinating and I discovered suddenly one or two whites doing 
the same tning. 

They had been doing it fer years but I'd never known it because I 
wasn't part of that scene . I used to work with other black people in the 

copper mine in vac jobs, and it was after independednce anyway and black 
people were muchmore self con,ident about their lives and more willing to 
integrate~th whites on an equal fo oting tt~, so it became easier to inter­
act . 

'J f'": ~eu~""'-' ? ... 
OW: ~ Luanshya . It's oue of the six copper belt towns about thirty miles 
from where Ian Xilms~r(~) was born . 

'l'J~~}-Q I 
JF: Did your parents or friends in the commnnity back ther e think you were 
a bit odd? 
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DW: There was a probl~m. Fi~st I be~an to shed some of my old school friedds 
who thought this guy ~s a b~t off . This wasn 't a major shift in that I 
uould have black people round to dinner , and that sort of thing. •y 
parents wouldn't have countenanced that at all. 

Indded, I phoned my mother tonight to say I'm coming for Victmria 
Mligi 1 s funeral , van I bring some friends to stay, and she said Are t hey 
black, because il they were she w uldn't have accepted them , even now . 

It took the form of socialising with them and drinking with them, 
going to watch soccer with them which was a big sport in Zambia , I used 
to sup ort our local soccer team. 

There was a guy cal led Agistill i a Bwagla who was a great soccer player 
who played for Zambia and I worked with him, we became quite mates , and I 
used to go and watch him play. 

It ' s true that it wasn't a popular thing to do . But on the other hand 
it didn ' t cause me any great stigmatisation either • • y social universe was 
still pretty much white , sout h African origined people . 

JF: After you finished yvur degree what did you do? 

DW : That is when the real change tokk place because I did an honours in 
Anthroplology which was preparation for doing research , an MA · Not from 
an~ great planning , but I decided not to do research in S . A. 

Because in those days , doing research in S .S was incredibly tricky . 
' 69 , ' 70 , even though it was one of the qui t er periods of S. A history. 
Black communi ties are largely speaking hostile to whites in S . A, there is 
a suspicion gap to overcome if you are going to do research . 

Getting permission from the authorities is another ball game or at 
least i t was t hen, much t ougher than now , with permits . By then I was on 
the police books for NUSAS protest , nothing great but they have taken your 
photoe;Eaph and one or two pi ckets your name . 

So I took a choice to wm~k outside and tossed up between Lesotho and 
Mocambique . Because one of my lectuters had researched in Mocambique 
and it was faraway and exotic , and I read a book aoout a wonderful group 
of people living there who were musicians and I was into music in a big 
way and still am, I'm going to study the Chope in Mocambique , I thought . 

With help from the lecturer and a Portuguese guy I knew who taught 
in Durban , I got clearance fror the Portuguese security police which was 
the main issue there . 

On an absolute shoestring , married Glenda and went off to live 
in Mocambique for a full year . We lived from Jan to DEc in the Chope 
community in Movambique . 

we were amazingly poor so we were forced to live at the same standad 
as the rest of the Chope population , somewhat below it ac tually as they 
were mostly bood farmers . 

It turned into an amazing year , and developed a whole lot of 
consciousuess about black people . I suddenly real~sed , the focus in my 
study, net by choice, was that I studied l ocal level politics . 

That was what everybody did , studied politics in a big way, and the~ 
were peo ~le wi t hout one jot of education. Guys who had ne~er seen a school 
and couldn 't write ther±r name, could speak a smattering of Portuguese 
and a minimum of English because mosj of them had worked in the gold mi nes . 

Quite a lot of Fungalore , the linguafranca and Chopian Zulu , I had 
to learn the language as there was no way I could communicate with them , 
the women especially . There were no ~rammars and dictionaries, it was by 
listening andtalking and struggling. 

I think I learnt i t quite well in retrospect, I can speak it more 
than Zulu now with its textbooks and tape aids etc . We had huts buil t in 
that community and lived in a homestead like they did . 

I did have a research assistant sho spoke a little English a helped 
me a bit, and I turned everythin0 that happened , weddings , funerals , 
celebrations, went and worked in reo~les fields and helped them build huts 
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DW: •• went fishing, made pots, went hunting . Court cases , everything. 
The system was so fascinating and I began to realise that these people 
had such anintelligence and a grasr of the subtleties of politics and 
the ability to sum up someone ' s character . 

To cut through bullshit, and I realised this was something quite out 
of my ordinary experience . I ' d not been led to see black people as intelligent, 
rational, able to accept ir.dependence in Zambia even , I was still doubtful 
about Kuanda and thinking it~ht well go t o rack and ruin with Kuanda . 

I didn't rate him as a politimian and I thoagh t Kwapekwe was somehow 
a better ~~y . I had doubts about whetther black peo? le would run Zambia in 
a sufficietll coherent way to illake it work. 

I began to realise that actually there is this amazing grass roots 
suss and pmlitics and knowled6e and intelligence that most whites don't 
even comeclose t o . 

Realising then that having aneducati n and being literate is nothing 
to do with that intelligence . That was one thir.g . The second thing is I 
watched with my own eyes Portuguese colonialism happen . 

I was stunned how brutal and incredible it was like the taxes . The 
nearby local headman was a horrible bUY t he was an alochoholic and suspici ous 
and hostile to me as a white . 

He was no democrat ar popular person in his own com$unity He was an 
appointed fi6ure by the portu5uese authorities , but his son who was a 
migrant labourer was supposed to nave paid his taxes, failed to do so and 
so they j ~iled the father . 

They just came and took this guy who was in his fifties and jailed 
him, because his son hadn 't paid the taxe s . I thoubht that is noy t very just 
and then on a cou ~le of other occassions , I watcned in my own area when 
people had done misdemenours and so on ,the punishments , they still had 
forced labour . 

If you made some misdemanour , they could actually take ~au off and 
make you build roads . This was not that long a go , 1 69. I looked at the taxes 
and what people earned , there was no way they could pay the taxes properly . 

And survive . I began to realise that the taxes were one of the main 
tiugs that forced people to be migrant workers . Becasue I was studing these 
people seriously I sarted t o look at what they earned and a guy would work 
on the S . A gold mines for say 12 months, s ometimes 18, and come back with 
66 rand . 

He 'd have some other goods , a radio and a bicylce and a tin trunk with 
clo thing and gifts , a paraffin lamp or stove, but frankly they are trinkets 
and he had worked for a year let's say, and I took avergaes and the average 
was R66 saved . 

So I began to see t he link between mining in S .A and the exploitation 
and the Portuguese colonialism and th&t worried me a lot . The ripoffs in the 
shops in Mocambique of the black people , and basically I could see from 
their perspe t tve how colonialism bore down on Peoples lives~ 

It was a burden that people carried all the time , and I began to think 
the Portuguese who were so affable in the cafes and so charming in their 
houses, are perpetuating a major crime in Mocambique . 

It was something that happened to me empirically, it seeped into my 
consciousness without me t heorising ~bout it at all. When I finished in 
Mocambique , I went back every Christmas for about 4 years until about '~4 · 

The year before independence, by the way F~elimo never got to that 
far south in ~ocambique , there was .~~~to people in that area , a place 
called Inyolimein the province of Inyobam , r~ght in the South about 150 miles 
north of Maputo. About 100 miles south of Danekulu(?) 

Then I followed them to the gold mines, I used to watch themon the 
gold mines and visit with Chope people , follow their music, it is incredibly 
beautiful, that xylophone stuff . Like the marimba. 
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They are like Beethoven is to the Beatles in Afrcian music, they are one 
group , in a different league . I kept in touch with peoJle on the gold 
mines and the lives they led were stunning to behold . 

I developed a keen interest in migrant labour out of that, and I 
wrote a cuuple of papers on Portuguese volonialism and migrant labour, 
and development exploitation. 

JF: When you said you were doing local politics , did that have to do with 
anti-colonial organising ••• 

DW: A much lower level than that . What had actually happened with the 
Portuguese aathorities was a fascinating thing , and this ~igh t be idealising 
it but the free colonial period and in Mocambique we are talking about 1895 , 
or 15~0 , as early as that , all they had were the ports , Delogoa Bay, Beira 
Sofalo but they never controlled the interior . 

It was only with the defeat of Nykubiyan(?) in 1895 that that happened . 
They moved in and kept the structures of pwer but changed the personal, and 
what happened was that before , if a chief was ruling poorly in his area , 
he could easily be deposed by his people . 

The Mocambiquan area thAt I worked in had a very strong &XH& tradition 
of democracy . Chiefs and headman were only there at the good will of the 
people that they allegedly ruled over, and their roles were that of a middle 
man almost. 

A court case in Mocambique was the most fascinating thing, the litigants 
sides would ge t together , and all the men would sit around , people supporting 
bothsides and the chief or headman would sit there with two indunas, his 

sub guys as assessors , let's call it . 
Then the case would begin , and these two guys would argue out their different 
perspectives about what the case was about . People from the audience would 
chip in and raise would appeared to be completely extraneous matters . 

But it had absolute pertinence to what is going on , it might be some­
th ing like your cow walked into my field and destroyed half my crops, 
I want compensation add in our strict reading of the law , t hat would be the 
facts and you would have to debate those facts . 

But these people would talk a out the ~ole community and whether you 
deserved to have tjose ca tle in your fields and whether your cattle had 
done it five years ago . 

Or whether you had made a pass at that guys wife tae week before . 
People examined total relationships . These headmen used to sit there and 
weigh up things, but what they were weighing up was not the evidence but 
the feeling of the meeting. 

He would bring abuut a consensus and a compromise would be reached and 
some sort of resolution to the conflict would take plave. well , our chiefs 
were a bit like that in their oli tics, they would have to work by the will 
of the majority of the people otherewise they would be deposed . 

The portuguese came in and elected chiefs and instead o~ being the 
elected representatives of the people, they were suddenly oeing bureaucrats 
in the colonial structure . 

Their roles basically weere to interpret Portugues intentions to the 
people living ~n the fields, look here there is going to be a new tax next 
year and you must pay it kind of thing. 

So they lost all credibility and people who ~sed to compete for 
chieftainship and headmanship didn't bother anymore , because that wasn't where 
poli~ics was anymore, those wer~ government appointed figures . 

Discredited people Jinga(?) you know dogs . The real politics took place 
lower than that and was abvut big men accreting your followers, gaining 
influence and making power plays against those chiefs and headmen . 

But it wasn't structures as an overtly clear anti-colonial struggle . 
It was often competition between people for influence andpower within the 
community. 

JF : Had they heard of Frelimo? 
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DW : Yes they had heard of Frelimo , they were very pro - Frelimo indeed 
and used to speak about i~ in very husned terms, sort of like people 
talk about the ANC today . 

They certianly saw it as a liberating force that would someday take 
them out of this servitude and take them to a promised land . I think that 
was one of the problems that Frelimo had, that people had very high expe e~ 
ations of being taken to the good life which never happened . It was a bit 
unrealistic . 

JF: Did you ever hear stories of people who had gone to Tansania to join 
Frelimo or was it too far s outh? 

DW:It was really too far south althouLh~ere were some key figures who 
Ended up in the hierarchy , althvugh I can't rememoer their names . Monda 
Mondwane( ?) came from just South of there, from the Jumbello ? district , 
and people used to talk about that with great approval . 

There was another guy called Karalanga Thembe, from the deep south of 
Mocambique and he was animportant military leader in Frelimo. He was prouddly 
thought of in this area too. I think even Machel c omes from the So~~ern area. 

JF: He comes from towards ~imbabwe more . 

DW: The regional works broadly speaking , the south kind of claims everybody 
as far as a can see . Ethnicity was not a big i ssue for thmse people as far 
as I could see , I mean they did think in terms of ethnic s at times , but 

that was because the portuguese volonial authorites froced them to . 

JF . Do you think there was some inherent non-racialism in Mocambique, non­
racialism of Frelimo.? 

DW : I think so, I think they were drawing on a colonialism of a kind . 

JF : Plus the colonialism for all its brutality wasn't as segrebated . 

dw; yes tha t too . 

JFYou talked a lot about how you discovered blacks and how the culture was 
so fascinating ••• how about how blacks felt towards you , were there any lessons 
in that? Had they ever seen a white man like you before in that community? 

DW: No, they hadn't . That was indeed a major problem and the first three months 
of my field work were really hard because people either thought I was foolish 
or crazy, or a government spy of some kind. 

Ironiaally being a South African and not a portuguese speaker was a 
tremendous advantage . Those people saw S . A despite the hardships of tije 
gold mines as a land of mil« and honey, it is where people earned their ~oney. 

The PCrtuguese paid people very badly , so coming f~om S. A and bei~g 

an overt South Afr=aan and quite clearl~ not getting on very well with 
portuguese colonial officials, I used to get visited by Portuguese securi;y 
policemen ~rom time to time, and it was clear to a casual observer that the 
encounter was a hostile one. 

They were often checking on me and I was freez i ng and so on and people 
saw that. That and my South Africanness enhanced my status in the community . 
After a three month period there was a very important moment when I threw 
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DW: •• a big party , it is not an important anecdote but I realised that 
to oreak the ice with these people I had to kind of make a significant 
gesture of humility , of wanting to oe accepted by them . 

My anthrological training had equipped me enuugh to say well , I must 
throw a party , an enormous one , and I did , I got lots of liqour and meat , 
food and called the whole community to this party . 

I 0ot the local orchestra to play and thir.5s like that . It turned 
into a maJOr jamboree, starting at about five in the morning and going 
tnrough till nigLtfall . we all got olind totally drunk. 

That changed thmngs quite radically at that po~nt and people began 
to deal with me muchmore reasonably after that . Funny things took place 
like at that occassion a man sent his little girl, about 2 or 3, in a big 
crowd and this little girl brought me an orange . 

I said o~ thankyou , where is this from, and she pointed to her father . 
I gave her a tin of condensed milk and she took it to her father and we 

daved to each other,and started chatting. 
He jokingly said you must marry my daughter and I said Oh yes that 

will be lovely and he started calling me son-in-law at that point . He did 
that and eve:yone k knew it was a j~ke , she was only two, and a number of 
other people came in on the ~oke with relatives of his calling me brother etc . 

They fit ted Glenda and I INTO their social universe of a kinship kind . 
By that little fiction, if you like . 

What I'm tryim5 to get to , throughout the entire experience I was 
al.ays an uutsider in that community , everyone kew that and I knew it, noone 
was fooling each other, but they did come to quite like me and respect me 
for being someboaywho took their side, and if someone was sick they coul d 
come at an~ time and I could get themto the hospital . 

Once I interceded on the communities behalf with the local portuguese 
administrator , on an episode over a bridge . I persuaded him not to take a 
hard line with the community , he had forced them to make a bridge and it had 
never happened . 

They saw this as a mediation that I'd performed where they might have 
been in some kind of trouble . People saw that I followed back in S .A too, 
that I camein touch with people and didn 't just shirk them. 

I brought them home to lunch at my house on Sundays and they used 
to go bake and talk about that as a big event . I suspect they saw me in a 
slightly paternalistic way at the end . 

But as quite a reasonaole person I think . 

JF:Did any point in tnis experience , anthropology or pol iticasation, did 
you come to think these people could rule 8 outh Africa? 

DW: Yes, end of portuguese colonialism came as a reiief to me . By the time 
that hapeened in ' 75 I was tthrilled , I'd been supporting Frelimo since 
' 69 , and had seen with my own eyes how portuguese authorities had been 
behaving. 

I could see that people needed liberation and when I saw the grassro~ts 
potential if onlJ Frelimo would tap it, there was no fear for the future 
of Mocambique politically at all . 

Because these people had a clear grasp of politics and such a ~lear 
intelligence of what to do, when things needed to be done . That was a major 
shift for me as ap until that point black people had been a group so distanced 
from me that apart from the few friends I ' d struck up in Zambia towards the 
end of my stay there , I'd not been in a position to a sses whether people 
would be useful in a political context . 

Now I could see that it would be so and 1 translated that into a S .A 
experience too . 

jf; No problems seeing those people ruling over you? 

DW : No not really , you c uld see in the Mocambiquan case the absolute 
inevitability of the outcome . It was just a matter of time before Frelimo 
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DW: •• reached the area where I was . Absolutely everybody was in favour of 
Frelimo and there was no possibility of holuing it back and I've been 
thinking that fro years in South Africa too but it's been taking much longer. 

I would have been happy to have a lot of the people living withme in 
Mocambique ruling over me and running my politics, in fact they did run 
my l ocal politics for me . 

Hi: Did you go back after ' 74? 

Dw: Yes in '75 one year after independence . Then t hey closed the border to 
South Africa , it was simply that . I had a very ironic and embarrassing 
encounter with Frelimo . 

I went w~th Phil Bonner and he t ook some photographs of Frelimo soldiers 
passing by while we were at a cafe in the middle of Maputo, Lorenquo Marques 
it still was , they arrested the lot of us , Glenda , myself , Phil and Chris . 

They took us off to the Frtelimo headquarters whish was the military camp. 
Phil went in behind the gates and Chris said I can't let him go s o she went 
but I thought they can't speak Funagalore or Chope or anything, so I went in 
and as you went in they detained you and oade it quite clear that you were 
arrested and you were there , and we left Glenda with the car , and at a certian 
point we had to go the car, and they said whm is she, and I said my wife , 
and they said she must come too. 

They questioned us for about 5 or more hours , it was obvious they were 
suspecting us of being South African spies, ~nd they let us go eventually 
believing our story in the end . 

But it was an embarrassing situation, a ; art from all ~hat they just 
closed the border to S . A. It has never oeen possible ~o go back. 

JF~ What was it like to go back under a Frelimo government for you? 

Dw: It was a thrill , it was fantastic . The irony of the photo was that I 
had eg6 ed Phil on because as we had driven down from the border, Frelmmo 
soldiers were doing exercise along the side of t 1e road, and as we approached 
they dived into ditvhes and pointed their guns . 

I said photo braph that Phil and then in the middle of Maputo where there 
has always been Pottuguese soldiers and trucks, suddenly there were Frelimo 
soldiers and I was sayin6 this is amazing. 

Rather foolishly he took t his hJ tograph in front of a large truck of 
Frelimo soldiers . So the purpose of our visit was to actually celebrate the 
independence of Mocambique, and we were also going to go into the archives 
the portueguse wouldn ' t let vou into their archives . 

See what they had, and if it was wo ~th coming back in the future . 

JF: When y ou came back and t old people how exciting it was to see the 
changes , what were peoples attitudes to you? 

DW : Academically I did that and socially t oo amongst friends who were 
willing to talk about it , and I began to teah course on Mocambique in 
the AnthrolOeY dept and I used to teach courses on development and under­
development and colonialism 

'74, '75 on the Wits campus itself, the African studies inst ~ tue had 
satrted up a series of seminars under the chairmanship of Phil Bonner . 

But there was naywhere in t he socil sciences in Britain ,America and elsewheer 
quite a transformation. After years of the Cold War period and Stalinism 
and Marxism where Marxism and cmmmunism were very f r owned upo~ , they began 
to efuerge in the 1 - 0 's and they hit our little third world countries in '72· 

Especially ' 74 • And sudenly in the anthrolopolo £ical text a flowering of 
anthrologic~l marxism emerged and in the broaaer so cial sciences , Polantz 
was now acceptable and Ultusere(? ) was fashionable , there was a sort of French 

" structuralists, neo marxist wno were anti-stalinists . 
I L 
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DW: They became respectable as marxists and then they fell out of 
fashion , anu a ne~ school of Narxism emerged, but all of this was 
happening '74 1 76, and then I got a sabbatical leave in ' 76 and it was 
another watershed year because Soweto happened and alth ugh I wasn't 
doing any research in Soweto, then I had lots of friends in Soweto , I had 
made a point, in fact ~n American researcher ~ue Cairn helped me,and she 
was studying middle class bLack South ~fricans . 

She introduced me to some of her contat\ s in ~•v• f ••t t h • ~ 
didn't like, but two I did like very much because we shared an interset in 
Jazz , and I kew them well, and have kept a relationship ever sine~ . 

One or two other more workimg class black people mainly who I had 
worked with ate ~its and .1. u.sed t > visit in Swweto quite often, 

JF: \.Jhat year did you come back from Mocambique? 

DW: The last t~me I went bhere for research purposes was '74• 
I started teaching at ~its in '71 after oeing in Cape Town for 6 months. 
After my reseadrch I didn't have a job to go to immediately so I worked as 
a journalist on the Daily Dispatch in East London . 

Then I had a j unior lectureship in 1970 at Cape Town for 6mths , 
which was dreadful as I was very isolated. Then in '71 I came to J oburg ad 
used to go to t-1ocambique in Christamas vacs for research. 

jf; you were teaching in anthropology dept? 

D\1: Yes. 

JF: was the~ any political involvement that you had them? 

Df: NG because if you think what political structures were open to one than 
even by '71, there was no party which appealed to me then. I supported the 
progrssive arty I tt1ink it was c ~lled then, and had an admiration for Heeem 
Suzmanes spunky style, standing up to the govt and asking awkward question~ 

about detentionw without trial and repression . 
I'd moved way left uf th e united party as it would be • •• 


